FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/30/2020 4:40 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/1/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK Supreme Court No. <u>99076-0</u>

Court of Appeals No. 80078-7-I

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN FREDERICK BUDIG II,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 richard@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

John Budig, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. The trial court ruled that Mr. Budig was unconstitutionally seized by law enforcement and granted his motion to suppress. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order. The Court of Appeals' opinion, along with the order denying Mr. Budig's motion for reconsideration, are attached in the appendix.¹

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. If reasonable suspicion of criminal activity exists, law enforcement may briefly detain a person to confirm or dispel the presence of criminal activity. Following an extended consensual encounter with a sheriff's deputy, which gave the deputy the opportunity to dispel any suspicion of criminal activity, the deputy decided to frisk Mr. Budig for weapons. Was the seizure of Mr. Budig unlawful when the evidence did not establish that reasonable suspicion of criminal activity existed at the time of the frisk?

2. Rather than simply reverse the trial court's order of suppression, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for trial. When the appellate court reverses a denial of a motion to suppress, the remedy is remand with

¹The unpublished opinion was issued on August 3, 2020. The order denying Mr. Budig's motion to reconsider was issue on August 31, 2020.

an order to suppress, rather than dismissal. Is the logical corollary to this rule that when an appellate court reverses the grant of a suppression order, the remedy is remand for further consistent proceedings, rather than remand for trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 30, 2018, John Budig's car broke down in rural Snohomish County. RP 5, 9. While he waited for a tow truck, he stood at the end of a driveway. RP 6, 9. After a woman pointed to him while she was talking to a sheriff's deputy about half a mile away, Mr. Budig approached the pair. RP 7-8, 17; CP 16 (FF 6-7).

The deputy, Christopher Leyda, was responding to a "traffic hazard" report. RP 5; CP 15 (FF 3). Specifically, a woman believed someone had been shining a blue laser at passing cars. RP 6; CP 16 (FF 4). The deputy met the woman at the scene. RP 6; CP 16 (FF 4). She identified Mr. Budig as that person. RP 6; CP 16 (FF 6). She also told the deputy that she had seen a vehicle pass and stop several times. RP 7.

When Mr. Budig approached, he began a conversation with the deputy. RP 9; CP 16 (FF 9). He explained that his car had broken down

and he was waiting for a tow truck.² RP at 9-10. According to the deputy, Mr. Budig said that he had a laser, but that he had not shined it at anyone. RP 9. Mr. Budig spoke with the deputy for some time up to an hour. RP 12; CP 16 (FF 12). Throughout the conversation Mr. Budig was "helpful, affable and cordial." CP 15 (FF 13); <u>accord</u> RP at 18. And although the deputy believed Mr. Budig appeared nervous, Mr. Budig made no threatening movements or gestures towards the deputy, nor did he try to flee or hide anything. RP 21; CP 16 (FF 14).

The deputy told Mr. Budig he was going to frisk him for weapons. RP 11-12; CP 17 (FF 21-22). Mr. Budig complained, but quickly complied once the deputy informed him that he was being detained. RP 12; CP 17 (FF 22). The deputy found a switchblade knife in Mr. Budig's pocket. CP 17 (FF 26); RP 12. The deputy arrested Mr. Budig for carrying a switchblade knife in violation of RCW 9.41.250(1)(a), a gross misdemeanor. RP 11-12; CP 47. In a search incident to arrest, the deputy found drugs. CP 40.

² While the deputy did not testify on whether this proved to be true or not, the deputy's report stated Mr. Budig was in fact waiting for a tow truck for his car. CP 48.

The prosecution charged Mr. Budig with unlawful possession of a controlled substance. CP 51. Mr. Budig moved to suppress the evidence, contending he had been unconstitutionally seized and searched. CP 33.

At the hearing, the deputy's testimony did not establish precisely the length or content of his conversation with Mr. Budig. RP 9, 12. In response to the prosecutor's questioning, the deputy testified that he did not know the length of the conversation and could not give a particular time, other than it was less than an hour:

Q. How long do you think you and the defendant spoke before you ultimately arrested him?

A. I would be guessing, <u>I don't know</u>.

Q. Under an hour?

A. Certainly under an hour. It wasn't that long, but <u>I</u> couldn't give you a particular time.

Q. Okay.

RP 12 (emphasis added).

The deputy also was unable to remember if there was anyone else with Mr. Budig. RP 10. The prosecution did not elicit whether the woman on the scene who pointed out Mr. Budig, remained at the scene or left during the interaction between the deputy and Mr. Budig. RP 4-16, 21-22; CP 17 (FF 16) ("It is unknown if the reporting party ever left the area during the contact with Mr. Budig."). Mr. Budig's primary argument was that the frisk for weapons was unlawful because the prosecution failed to prove there was reasonable suspicion that he was armed and presently dangerous. RP 23-29; CP 35-38. Mr. Budig did not concede that the stop was valid. RP 36.

Given the testimony by the deputy, the court asked the parties to address the issue of when the stop of Mr. Budig occurred and whether that stop was lawful. RP 35-43. After hearing from the parties, the court recessed for a week and invited the parties to provide supplemental briefing or additional caselaw. RP 44-45.

When the court reconvened the next week, the court noted it had received additional authority from the defense. 5/10/19 RP 2. Emphasizing that the deputy's testimony was very vague on certain points and that it was the prosecution's burden to prove that the seizure of Mr. Budig was lawful, the court found that Mr. Budig had been seized and that the prosecution had not met its burden to prove the seizure was lawful. 5/10/19 RP 2-7. The court granted the motion to suppress. 5/10/19 RP 7.

The prosecution appealed. The Court of Appeals reversed the order granting Mr. Budig's motion to suppress and remanded for trial. The court denied Mr. Budig's motion to reconsider.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.

1. The trial court correctly determined that reasonable suspicion did not exist when the law enforcement officer decided to frisk Mr. Budig for weapons. The Court of Appeals' contrary decision and holding that law enforcement may frisk a person even without reasonable suspicion of criminal activity is contrary to precedent and warrants review.

The Washington Constitution commands: "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art. I, § 7. The United States Constitution also protects people from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. Absent an exception, warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable, and violate these provisions. <u>State v. Russell</u>, 180 Wn.2d 860, 867, 330 P.3d 151 (2014). "The State bears a heavy burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that a warrantless search falls within one of those exceptions." <u>Id.</u> at 867.

A brief investigatory seizure is a limited exception to the warrant requirement. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968); <u>State v.</u> <u>Z.U.E.</u>, 183 Wn.2d 610, 617-18, 352 P.3d 796 (2015). To justify a "<u>Terry</u>" stop, a police officer must have reasonable suspicion, based on specific, objective facts, that the person has committed or is about to commit a crime. <u>Z.U.E</u>, 183 Wn.2d at 617. The purpose of a <u>Terry</u> stop is investigation. "An officer may briefly stop an individual based upon reasonable suspicion of criminal activity if necessary to maintain the status quo while obtaining more information." <u>State v. Duncan</u>, 146 Wn.2d 166, 172, 43 P.2d 513 (2002) (internal quotation omitted). A lawful <u>Terry</u> stop is limited by the investigative purpose of the stop. <u>State v. Acrey</u>, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003).

Distilled into three elements, "An officer may, though, frisk a person for weapons, but only if (1) he justifiably stopped the person before the frisk, (2) he has a reasonable concern of danger, and (3) the frisk's scope is limited to finding weapons." <u>State v. Setterstrom</u>, 163 Wn.2d 621, 626, 183 P.3d 1075 (2008) (emphasis added) (quoting <u>State v. Collins</u>, 121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993)). "The failure of any of these makes the frisk unlawful and the evidence seized inadmissible." <u>Id.</u>

The prosecution failed to prove that Deputy Leyda's frisk of Mr. Budig occurred during a lawful <u>Terry</u> stop. The prosecution did not provide evidence to meet its burden to prove reasonable suspicion of a crime *at the time of the seizure*. Because the seizure was not legitimate, the frisk that followed was impermissible under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution. Here, the deputy was investigating an allegation that Mr. Budig may have been shining a laser into moving vehicles. Mr. Budig and the deputy had an extended conversation, where the deputy had the opportunity confirm or dispel whether Mr. Budig was engaged in criminal activity. Mr. Budig explained he was waiting for a tow truck for his vehicle. The deputy did not testify that he found this account implausible. Rather, the deputy testified Mr. Budig's behavior was "helpful", RP 9 "cooperative," RP 17-18, "cordial," RP 18, and "affable." RP 13. The trial court agreed, entering an unchallenged finding that "Mr. Budig was helpful, affable and cordial during the contact." CP 16 (FF 13).

When the deputy decided to frisk Mr. Budig, he lacked reasonable suspicion that Mr. Budig had committed or was in the process of committing a crime. While <u>Terry</u> holds "that a police officer, under appropriate circumstances, may make a reasonable, limited search for weapons in the interest of his own protection, the rule cannot be invoked where reasonable grounds no longer exist for detaining the suspect." <u>Coleman v. United States</u>, 337 A.2d 767, 772 (D.C. 1975). This follows the general rule that like all exceptions to the warrant requirement, the <u>Terry</u> exception is limited and carefully drawn. <u>State v. Doughty</u>, 170 Wn.2d 57, 61, 239 P.3d. 573 (2010). "A lawful *Terry* stop is limited in

scope and <u>duration to fulfilling the investigative purpose</u> of the stop." <u>Acrey</u>, 148 Wn.2d at 747 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals reasoned that Deputy Leyda's very vague testimony about his encounter with Mr. Budig, the trial court erred in concluding that the prosecution had failed to meet its burden to prove the stop-and-frisk exception applied. Rather than give deference to the trial court's factual findings on the lack of evidence, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "[d]etermining the exact point at which this encounter became a <u>Terry</u> stop is not critical to our analysis." Slip op. at 5.

The Court of Appeals further disregarded this Court's three-part framework on the stop-and-frisk exception, reasoning that regardless of whether reasonable suspicion of a crime exists, law enforcement can frisk a person if the officer has "legitimate concerns about his safety." Slip op. at 5. In support, the Court cited <u>City of Seattle v. Hall</u>, 60 Wn. App. 645, 651, 806 P.2d 1246 (1991). In <u>Hall</u>, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "[w]hen an individual voluntarily approaches an officer and behaves in a manner that causes the officer a legitimate concern for his or her safety, that officer is entitled to take immediate protective measures." 60 Wn. App. at 651.

<u>Hall</u> has been eclipsed by this Court's precedent. To reiterate, a frisk for weapons is permissible under <u>Terry</u>, but only if the officer

"justifiably stopped the person before the frisk." <u>Setterstrom</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 626. If this requirement is not met, the frisk is not permitted. <u>Id.</u>

The Court of Appeals has recognized this, rejecting the notion that mere concerns of "officer safety" justify a <u>Terry</u> stop and frisk. <u>State v.</u> <u>Carriero</u>, 8 Wn. App. 2d 641, 665, 439 P.3d 679 (2019). "An officer conducting a valid investigatory stop based on reasonable suspicion may take steps to ensure officer safety," but "a valid stop is a precondition." <u>Id</u>. at 665. "In other words, law enforcement officers cannot create reasonable suspicion by claiming officer safety." <u>Id.</u>

Moreover, the scenario in this case is very different than the one in <u>Hall</u>. Here, the deputy responded to a report of a traffic hazard and had information about the possible unlawful discharge of a laser, a relatively minor offense. That the deputy was aware of prior burglaries in the area did not create reasonable suspicion that Mr. Budig was engaged in criminal activity. <u>See State v. Fuentes</u>, 183 Wn.2d 149, 161, 352 P.3d 152 (2015) (visiting apartment of suspected drug dealer late at night in a high crime area does not justify a <u>Terry</u> stop).

While Mr. Budig appeared nervous to the deputy, he did not invade the deputy's personal space or make any threatening movements towards the deputy. RP 8, 21. The trial court found "[t]he Deputy was able

to remember that the encounter did not escalate and he did not yell at the Defendant." CP 17 (FF 18) (unchallenged).

That Mr. Budig's behavior when he approached the deputy was not particularly threatening is underlined by the fact that the deputy did not "take immediate protective measures" as imagined in <u>Hall</u>. 60 Wn. App. at 651. Instead, the deputy had a lengthy conversation with Mr. Budig before deciding to pat him down. The prosecution failed to elicit evidence showing it was a short conversation and that reasonable suspicion existed following the conversation and contemporaneous to the frisk.

In reversing the trial court's order of suppression, the Court of Appeals improperly chided the trial court for its engagement and adherence to the law. The Court of Appeals recounted that Mr. Budig had not initially "challenged the legitimacy of any initial <u>Terry</u> stop." Slip op. at 8. Based on this, the Court reasoned that the "trial court went beyond what was needed to decide Budig's motion" by addressing whether the prosecution had shown reasonable suspicion existed at the time of the <u>Terry</u> frisk. Slip op. at 8.

But a judge is not a robot that outputs a decision after receiving evidence and law from the parties. Rather, a "trial court's obligation to follow the law remains the same regardless of the arguments raised by the

parties before it." <u>State v. Quismundo</u>, 164 Wn.2d 499, 505-06, 192 P.3d 342 (2008).³

Here, the trial court was well within its authority to ask the parties about whether the first element necessary for a valid stop-and-frisk had been met. The trial court gave the parties, including the State, an opportunity to respond. The issue was squarely presented following the extremely vague and imprecise testimony from Deputy Leyda about his interaction with Mr. Budig.

And to reiterate, the prosecution failed to prove there was reasonable suspicion at the time of the frisk. After Deputy Leyda engaged in a lengthy conversation with Mr. Budig, Deputy Leyda did *not testify* that he suspected Mr. Budig of unlawfully discharging a laser. Rather, based on Mr. Budig appearing nervous and there having been other crimes in the area, Deputy Leyda testified he thought "that possibly there was a crime occurring." RP 10. But "inarticulate hunches" do not establish reasonable suspicion. <u>See Doughty</u>, 170 Wn.2d at 62-63 (reasonable suspicion not established to stop person who very briefly visited what was a suspected "drug house" late at night). And the duration of any Terry stop

³ The Rules of Appellate Procedure recognize this principle. While cases are ordinarily resolved on the arguments of the parties, the Court has discretion to decide the case based on a ground raised by the Court itself. RAP 12.1; <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Aho</u>, 137 Wn.2d 736, 741, 975 P.2d 512 (1999).

may only last as long as necessary to dispel or confirm whether a violation of the law has occurred or is imminent. <u>See Rodriguez v. United States</u>, 575 U.S. 348, 354, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 191 L. Ed. 2d 492 (2015) (stop becomes unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to conduct investigation); <u>United States v. Sharpe</u>, 470 U.S. 675, 685, 105 S. Ct. 1568, 84 L. Ed. 2d 605 (1985) ("Obviously, if an investigative stop continues indefinitely, at some point it can no longer be justified as an investigative stop.").

Admittedly, the trial court's articulation of the law and evidence was not ideal. But on the substance and merits, the court was correct. The prosecution failed to meet *its burden* to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the stop-and-frisk exception applied.

Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Review is also warranted to clarify that the Court of Appeals holding in <u>Hall</u>—that the police may frisk of a person for weapons under <u>Terry</u> even if there is no reasonable suspicion of a crime—is not good law. This is a significant constitutional question justifying review. RAP 13.4(b)(3). And whether the police may simply seize and frisk a person based on officer safety concerns is an issue of substantial public interest warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. Review is also warranted to clarify that when an appellate court reverses a trial court's order of suppression, the remedy is remand for proceedings consistent with the reversal, not remand for trial.

In reversing, the Court of Appeals "remand[ed] for trial." Slip op. at 1, 8. Because this could be read to preclude another dispositive suppression motion, even on different grounds, Mr. Budig moved for reconsideration. He requested that the Court of Appeals amend its opinion to provide clarity. Without explanation, the Court of Appeals refused.

An appellate court's decision is binding on the trial court on remand. RAP 12.2. Trial courts "must strictly comply with directives from an appellate court which leave no discretion to the lower court." <u>State v.</u> <u>Schwab</u>, 134 Wn. App. 635, 645, 141 P.3d 658 (2006), <u>aff'd</u>, 163 Wn.2d 664, 185 P.3d 1151 (2008).

The language used by the Court of Appeals could be read by the trial court as to preclude an additional motion by Mr. Budig that might result in dismissal rather than trial. This is important because, as noted in Mr. Budig's brief, there is an issue on whether the discovery of the switchblade knife justified Mr. Budig's arrest. Br. of Resp't at 4 n.2. While Mr. Budig did not argue suppression was warranted because his arrest was unlawful, the prohibition on possessing switchblade knifes under RCW 9.41.250(1)(a) likely violates the state and federal

constitutional right to bear arms. Const. art. I, § 24; U.S. Const. amend. II, XIV; <u>McDonald v. City of Chicago, Ill.</u>, 561 U.S. 742, 749-50, 130 S. Ct. 3020, 177 L. Ed. 2d 894 (2010). The right to bear arms is not limited to firearms. <u>Caetano v. Massachusetts</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 136 S. Ct. 1027, 1027, 194 L. Ed. 2d 99 (2016) (stun guns do not fall outside protection of Second Amendment). Unlike a simple tool, like a paring knife, a switchblade knife is an arm entitled to constitutional protection. <u>State v.</u> <u>Delgado</u>, 298 Or. 395, 403, 692 P.2d 610 (1984) (criminalizing the mere possession of a switchblade knife was unconstitutional); <u>City of Seattle v.</u> <u>Evans</u>, 184 Wn.2d 856, 873, 366 P.3d 906 (2015) (paring knife is not an "arm" entitled to constitutional protection). Consequently, arresting Mr. Budig for possessing a switchblade made the arrest illegal, which means the drugs found incident to Mr. Budig's arrest should be suppressed. Mr. Budig should be permitted to raise this theory on remand.

While the language used by the Court of Appeals can be found in other opinions, the more prudent language used when reversing a grant of a motion to suppress is to "reverse and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion." <u>State v. Alexander</u>, 5 Wn. App. 2d 154, 168, 425 P.3d 920 (2018) (reversing an erroneous motion to suppress on <u>Terry</u> grounds). Significantly, this Court has clarified that when this Court reverses *a denial* of a motion to suppress, it is inappropriate for the appellate court to instruct for dismissal:

When an appellate court vacates a conviction that is obtained with illegally seized evidence, the remedy is remand to the trial court with an order to suppress. This is true regardless of whether the untainted evidence might independently sustain a conviction. We reverse the Court of Appeals and remand to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the order to suppress evidence seized as a result of the faulty warrant.

State v. McKee, 193 Wn.2d 271, 279, 438 P.3d 528 (2019).

The logical corollary is that when the appellate court reverses the grant of a suppression order, remand for further proceedings consistent with the reversal is the remedy. The remedy is not a trial.

Consistent with <u>McKee</u>, this Court should grant review to clarify that the appropriate remedy when an appellate court reverses a suppression order is remand for further proceedings consistent with the opinion. As in <u>McKee</u>, where this Court granted review solely to determine the appropriate remedy when reversal of a suppression order is granted, this issue is one of substantial public interest meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Budig respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition for review.