FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2021 8:12 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99076-0

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

### JOHN FREDERICK BUDIG II,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SCOTT HALLORAN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

#

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION APPLIED THE PROPER THREE-PART TEST REQUIRED FOR <u>TERRY</u> FRISK ANALYSIS. THAT DECISION RELIES ON THIS COURT'S PRECEDENT AND DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH IT IN ANY WAY.

#### 1. Review Is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Petitions for review must demonstrate that the case meets at least one of the four grounds set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). The defendant asserts that his case merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) by claiming that the Court of Appeals' decision "holds" that an officer may frisk a person without any reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Pet. at 6. The Court of Appeals made no such determination, and its decision does not conflict with any identified precedent. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The defendant repeats the arguments he made in the Court of Appeals, while reframing them to justify the trial court's reliance on the wrong legal standard of social contact cases. The Court of Appeals thoroughly addressed those arguments when it concluded that the social contact cases provided the wrong standard to evaluate the <u>Terry</u> frisk issue raised. The Court of Appeals decision applied established law to the facts of this case. The State relies on the court's decision and the following argument as the basis for which this court should deny review.

# 2. The Court Of Appeals Applied The Correct Legal Test, Which The Trial Court Failed To Do.

A warrantless <u>Terry</u> investigative detention is justified under Article I, § 7 and the Fourth Amendment if an officer can articulate a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped has been or is about to be involved in criminal activity. <u>Terry</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 21; <u>State v.</u> <u>Armenta</u>, 134 Wn.2d 1, 20, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Investigative <u>Terry</u> detentions are an exception to the warrant requirement; their purpose is to allow officers to make an intermediate response to situations lacking probable cause to arrest but which call for further investigation. <u>State v. Kennedy</u>, 107 Wn.2d 1, 17, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

Pursuant to <u>Terry</u>, an officer may make a brief pat down of a person's outer clothing to search for weapons in order to protect officer safety. <u>State v. Collins</u>, 121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993). Officers need not be absolutely certain that the person being detained is armed or dangerous, the issue is whether a reasonably prudent person would perceive his safety to be at risk. <u>Terry</u>, 392 U.S. at 30-31. Reviewing courts are reluctant to substitute their judgment for that of officers in the field. <u>Collins</u>, 121 Wn.2d at 174. "A well founded suspicion is all that is necessary,

some basis from which the court can determine that the [frisk] was not arbitrary or harassing." <u>Id</u>.

For such a frisk to be constitutional, the State must show that: (1) the initial stop is legitimate; (2) a reasonable safety concern exists to justify the protective frisk for weapons, and (3) the scope of the frisk is limited to the protective purposes. <u>Collins</u>, 121 Wn.2d at 173; <u>State v. Duncan</u>, 146 Wn.2d 166, 172, 43 P.3d 513 (2002).

Although both parties provided the trial court this three-part test- where the sole issue raised for suppression was lack of a reasonable safety concern- the trial court's findings and conclusions make no reference to this correct legal standard. CP 18-19.

The Court of Appeals rightly rejected the claim that no <u>Terry</u> investigation was ongoing when Leyda frisked Budig. Slip. Op. 5. Leyda was gathering information from the reporting party, investigating if Budig shined lasers into cars. The trial court's own conclusions recognized that the evidence presented constituted a violation of RCW 9A.84.030(1)(c) (disorderly conduct) and RCW 9A.49.030(1)(a) (second degree unlawful discharge of a laser). CP 19 (COL 1). The reporting party described other facts, such as a

car pulling up and stopping where Budig stood several times, as unusual, and which struck the officer as possibly indicative of other articulated criminal activity. 5/3/19 RP 7.

Leyda continued gathering initial information from the reporting party, who identified Budig as the person pointing the laser. Budig began walking some distance toward the deputy and then identified himself. Slip. Op. 5. Leyda spoke with Budig for "several minutes." 5/3/19 RP 8, 9. Budig admitted having a laser during that interaction, but he denied shining it at anyone.

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying the facts here to determine that the <u>Terry</u> investigation of Budig allegedly shining lasers into passing cars constituted a lawful <u>Terry</u> investigation. Leyda was investigating the reporting party's 911 call. He had not finished talking to her when Budig then approached him. Leyda clearly questioned Budig about the allegation, since Budig stated that he did have a laser on him. This satisfied the first prong of the correct legal test-- whether the initial stop was legitimate. The trial court implicitly recognized this in concluding the circumstances reported violated the two criminal statutes cited in FF 1.

The trial court erred by focusing on Budig approaching the Deputy as somehow "stopping" or interrupting the investigative

<u>Terry</u> process. FF 9, 10, 11, COL 8. The Court of Appeals rejected this flawed analysis by determining that Budig was the subject of Leyda's investigation and Leyda would have "stopped" him to inquire about that activity regardless of Budig approaching first. Slip. Op. 5.

The Court of Appeals noted that determining the exact point at which this encounter became a <u>Terry</u> stop was not critical to this analysis because the totality of the circumstances clearly indicated that <u>Terry</u> applied by the time Leyda frisked Budig. Slip. Op. 5. The Court of Appeals rightly noted that Budig cannot avoid a stop or short-circuit the process by approaching the deputy first. <u>Id</u>.

Budig's attempt to frame the timing of the frisk as occurring after Leyda's reasonable suspicion had somehow dissipated are refuted by the record. Pet. 8. The two spoke for "several minutes." Budig's demeanor, among other factors during those several minutes, raised safety concerns to Leyda. The trial court concluded those safety concerns were legitimate. CP 18 (COL 3). Leyda testified that *at the time that he frisked Budig*, Leyda believed the defendant was potentially committing a crime as described by the reporting party. 5/3/19 RP 10. The Court of Appeals <u>Terry</u> stop analysis was correct and supported by the record.

Budig attempts to create a conflict with precedent by asserting that the Court of Appeals "disregarded" the very threepart test which it relied on in determining its result. Pet. 9. The record refutes that claim. Slip. Op. at 4. citing the same three-part test articulated in <u>State v. Garvin</u>, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009) and <u>State v. Duncan</u>, 146 Wn.2d 166, 172, 43 P.3d 513 (2002). The Court of Appeals applied the same test which Budig asserts it "disregarded." By contrast, the trial court's written findings and conclusions failed to mention the three-part test at all. CP 15-20.

Despite Budig's attempted framing, the Court of Appeals determined that there was a valid <u>Terry</u> investigative "stop" here preceding the frisk. "Considering the totality of the circumstances, it is clear to us that by the time Deputy Leyda frisked Budig this was a <u>Terry</u> encounter." Slip. Op. at 5. The trial court's conclusions also recognized that the circumstances reported constituted a violation of two criminal statutes. CP 18 (COL 1). The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with cases Budig cites requiring a valid investigatory stop as a precondition of a lawful weapons frisk. Pet. 9-10.

Regarding the second prong of the test, the trial court concluded that Leyda had an actual, legitimate safety concern that Budig was armed based on his behavior, the time of night, and the dark rural conditions present during the encounter. CP 18 (COL 3). Yet the trial court appeared to ignore the required three-part <u>Terry</u> analysis by assuming that Budig approaching the officer first took the encounter out of a <u>Terry</u> investigation. CP 16, 19, FF 9, 10, 11, COL 8.

The Court of Appeals did not err in determining that Budig cannot avoid or preclude a <u>Terry</u> stop by approaching the officer first. Slip. Op. 5. Moreover, under these circumstances, Deputy Leyda had reasonable grounds to be concerned for his safety. <u>Id</u>. He was alone in a dark remote area with Budig exhibiting an alarming demeanor, including extreme nervousness, sweating, looking about wide eyed and repeatedly putting his hands where his movements could not be seen. 5/3/19 RP 8, 10, 11, 20.

Regarding Budig approaching the officer first, the Court of Appeals cited to <u>City of Seattle v. Hall</u>, 60 Wn. App. 645, 651, 806 P.2d 1246 (1991). This was to reinforce that when a person approaches an officer and behaves in a manner causing legitimate safety concerns, the officer may take protective measures including

a frisk. This rejected the trial court's implied reasoning that approaching an officer first somehow prevents a <u>Terry</u> "stop" from occurring. The <u>Hall</u> court rejected the same idea. <u>Hall</u> at 651. Contrary to Budig's assertions, <u>Hall</u> has not been "eclipsed" or overturned. Pet. at 9. The authority supporting <u>Hall</u> remains <u>Terry</u> itself. A protective frisk is justifiable if a reasonably prudent person would be warranted in the belief that their safety or that of others was in danger. <u>Terry</u>, 392 U.S. at 27.

The third prong of the test was satisfied when Leyda briefly patted down the exterior of Budig's clothing. RP 5/3/19 RP 11. This limited the scope of the frisk to the protective purpose at issue. The trial court made no mention of this when it failed to identify the correct legal test in its written findings and conclusions. CP 18-19. The Court of Appeals did not err by applying the correct standard in examining the <u>Terry</u> frisk analysis. Because that decision does not conflict with any constitutional authority, review is unwarranted.

#### 3. The Trial Court Compounded Its Erroneous Decision To Suppress Evidence By Relying On Inapplicable Social Contact Cases.

The trial court not only failed to apply the correct test of the validity of a <u>Terry</u> frisk. It then compounded that mistake by apparently concluding that Deputy Leyda made a social contact

which somehow escalated to an unlawful seizure. The trial court declared that it was required to "look for the forest among the trees." CP 18 (COL 5, <u>citing State v. Harrington</u>, 167 Wn.2d 656, 222 P.3d 92 (2009)). It also cited a second social contact case, <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 8 Wn. App. 2d 726, 440 P.3d 1032 (2019).

The Court of Appeals did not err in concluding that the social contact issue was not raised by either party where the sole challenge was to the reasonableness of the safety concerns justifying the <u>Terry</u> frisk. Slip. Op. 6. Nor did that court err in identifying how <u>Harrington</u> and <u>Johnson</u> are significantly different from Budig's case.

<u>Harrington</u> focused on a progressively intrusive social contact which ultimately amounted to a seizure. 167 Wn.2d at 669-670. An officer questioned that defendant on the sidewalk about his activities and travel. A second officer arrived and stood near the defendant. The first officer directed Harrington to show his hands and then asked to frisk him. <u>Id</u>. This progressively intrusive display of authority by both officers amounted to a seizure when a reasonable person would not feel free to leave or decline the frisk. Id.

<u>Johnson</u> was similarly focused on multiple officers contacting the defendant (in a parked car), using a "ruse" to engage in conversation, shining a light into the car, and then requesting proof of identity. <u>Johnson</u>, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 733-734. The court reasoned that an innocent person in Johnson's position would not feel free to leave or terminate the encounter when asked for identification following that display of authority. <u>Id</u>. at 745.

The Court of Appeals did not err here in distinguishing those cases erroneously relied on by the trial court. Neither of those involved a <u>Terry</u> investigation. Neither of those defendants were the subject of investigation of a 911 call to which the officer responded. Slip. Op. at 8. Those cases did not involve applying the test of a <u>Terry</u> frisk analysis at issue here.

# B. LANGUAGE REVERSING THE SUPPRESSION ORDER AND REMANDING FOR TRIAL DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

The Court of Appeals decision concluded by stating: "Accordingly, we reverse the trial court's order granting Budig's motion to suppress and remand for trial." Slip. Op. 8. Budig chides the Court of Appeals that while such language is common, the "more prudent" language should be to "reverse and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion." Pet. at 15.

Budig is correct that the language used is commonly found in other opinions. <u>See State v. Hansen</u>, 99 Wn. App. 575, 579, 994 P.2d 855 (2000); <u>State v. Cerillo</u>, 122 Wn. App. 341, 351, 93 P.3d 960 (2004); <u>Bowers v. Marzano</u>, 170 Wn. App. 498, 518, 290 P.3d 134 (2012); <u>State v. Cline</u>, 180 Wn. App. 644, 655, 323 P.3d 614 (2014); <u>Woo V. General Electric Co.</u>, 198 Wn. App. 496, 514, 393 P.3d 869 (2017).

Budig speculates that a trial court "could" interpret remanding for trial as possibly precluding additional motions. Pet. 14. This appears entirely speculative as the Court of Appeals included no such prohibitions in its decision. Returning a case to trial track cannot be fairly read to preclude the parties from making whatever motions are appropriate at or before trial.

Budig's reliance on <u>McKee</u> is misplaced. Pet. at 16. <u>State v.</u> <u>McKee</u>, 193 Wn.2d 271, 279, 438 P.3d 528 (2019). <u>McKee</u> focused not on the most prudent use of language, but on an error of law. The order dismissing counts there was improper because dismissal applies to convictions reversed for insufficient evidence or prejudicial misconduct; the proper remedy there was to remand to trial court with an order to suppress the evidence. Id. at 276, 279.

Remanding Budig's case back to trial track does not preclude any motions the parties may make in the future. A choice over the "more prudent" language used to accomplish the same result does not seem to be an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review, despite Budig's framing of the issue.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.